IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA **CASE NO. 1999-92** WILLIAM G. BELL, et al., Petitioner, VS. JANET SNYDER, Respondent. ON REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL Case Nos. 2D98-00191 and 2D98--00852

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ICARD, MERRILL, CULLIS, TIMM, FUREN & GINSBURG, P.A. John J. Waskom Thomas F. Icard Michael L. Foreman 2033 Main Street, Suite 600 Sarasota, Florida 34237 HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP Steven L. Brannock David Borucke P.O. Box 1288 Tampa, Florida 33601

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE, SIZE AND STYLE

Counsel for Petitioner, William G. Bell, certifies that this Initial Brief on the Merits is typed in 14 point (proportionately spaced) Times New Roman.

INTRODUCTION

This appeal concerns two important legal issues arising out of a lawsuit against the Estate of Malvern Bell. First, this Court granted jurisdiction to consider whether treble damages for a theft allegedly committed by Malvern Bell can be visited upon the innocent heirs of his estate. The Estate's brief will prove that treble damages are punitive, and as this Court has long ruled, punitive damages may not be awarded against an Estate.

However, the treble damages issue does not fully resolve this case. The Estate will also prove that judgment should never have been entered against the Estate at all. The Estate was forced to prosecute and defend claims below without critical evidence – evidence that the jury decided was spoliated by respondent, Janet Snyder. Indeed, the jury was so moved by evidence of Snyder's misconduct that it awarded the Estate \$250,000 in punitive damages on its claims against Snyder.

The trial judge erroneously vacated the spoliation verdict awarded to the Estate, not because of any disagreement with the jury's conclusion that Snyder had concealed evidence, but because of the court's restrictive view of the elements of spoliation. Put simply, the trial court ruled that Snyder had no duty not to conceal documents she took from Malvern Bell's home immediately before she initiated litigation and that she had not spoliated evidence because she "merely" concealed the evidence instead of destroying it. The Second District erroneously refused to correct these legal errors and reinstate the spoliation award.

The errors snowballed, having a dramatic impact on other issues in the case. As a result of the lower courts' erroneously restrictive view of the spoliation claim, the courts below improperly reduced the amount of punitive damages awarded by the jury against Snyder. More importantly, these rulings permitted Snyder to benefit from her concealment of crucial evidence. The Estate was forced to defend without critical documents it needed to disprove Snyder's claims. As a result, Snyder's misdeeds went almost entirely unpunished to the substantial detriment of the Estate.

Accordingly, in addition to a decision that treble damages are punitive and may not be entered against an estate, the Estate seeks a ruling from this Court reinstating its spoliation verdict and a remand to the Second District to consider the impact of restoring the spoliation award on Snyder's judgment against the Estate and the Estate's punitive damage award. Because of the legal errors below on the Estate's spoliation claim, the courts below have not yet fully considered the impact of Snyder's spoliation on the balance of the claims presented by this case. Remand will permit that analysis to occur.

The spoliation issue is of statewide importance. The narrow view of the tort adopted by the courts below permitted Snyder to profit from her misconduct. Concealment of evidence by litigants is no less worthy of condemnation and sanction than destruction of evidence. This Court should take this opportunity to correct the misunderstanding of the courts below and clarify the elements of a spoliation claim in Florida.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 1976, after a two-year courtship, Frances Miller Wynn and Malvern Hill Bell wed (T. 803).

This was the second marriage for both Frances and Malvern. Prior to their marriage, Malvern was a decorated naval officer, aviator, and successful civilian businessman. Malvern volunteered during World War II and rose in the U.S. Navy to the position of Commanding Officer of the first naval air squadron to fly jet fighters (T. 422-23, 2676-78). Upon his departure from the Navy after the Korean conflict, Malvern built a successful parcel delivery business, the Red Arrow Trucking Company (T. 423, 2680). In 1969 Malvern sold Red Arrow for \$216,000 (T. 964). After the sale of Red Arrow, Malvern worked as a stockbroker and then fulfilled a life-long dream by heading to the Caribbean Islands to enjoy an early retirement (T. 2681-85). Between 1969 and 1975, Malvern spent his time sailing between the Bahamas and Florida, doing some boat chartering while continuing his interest in investing (T. 2681-85).

Frances Wynn was introduced to Malvern by her son Richard who met Malvern while Malvern's yacht was docked in Palm Beach (T. 775, 802). Richard invited Malvern to a party being thrown for wealthy Palm Beach patrons of the arts (T. 789-90). At this party Malvern and Frances met.

Frances was a divorcee at the time. Her first husband "Breezy" Wynn had a successful sporting goods business. Following her divorce from Breezy, Frances had substantial means and moved comfortably in Palm Beach social circles (T. 759, 774,

¹ This brief will refer to the trial transcript as "T." and the record as "R."

999, 1023-24). Frances and Malvern began their courtship and two years later were married (T. 791, 803). Pictures taken during the marriage show an elegant, attractive and well-matched couple (T. 1737-38).

As is common in second marriages, the parties signed a pre-nuptial agreement promising to hold separate the various properties each brought to the marriage. The parties retained the right to acquire real property jointly, to open joint bank accounts, and to convey or transfer property to each other during the marriage or upon their deaths (R. 2093-97).

The marriage between Malvern and Frances Bell lasted nearly twenty years, until Malvern's death. Malvern passed away in November, 1995, leaving a substantial estate. Shortly after Malvern's death, Janet Snyder, Frances' daughter by her first marriage, brought suit against Malvern's estate, purporting to act on behalf of her mother. The gist of Snyder's claim was that, in Snyder's opinion, Malvern died with too much money. Snyder's argument is that Malvern must have stolen or converted Frances' property for his own benefit. Frances, who was rendered incompetent by a seizure shortly before Malvern's death, has not participated in the lawsuit. Neither, of course, did Frances bring any such claim during the many years of her marriage to Malvern.

Snyder's case is built on two critical assumptions. The first is that Malvern came to his marriage with Frances a relative pauper. The second is that any asset that Snyder's expert could not trace throughout the entire period of their twenty-year marriage is declared "missing" from Frances' estate and assumed to have been

converted by Malvern (even when there is no evidence that this asset ended up in Malvern's personal accounts).

Malvern's Financial Status at the Time of the Marriage

As to Snyder's first assumption, no one knows or can ever know exactly what Malvern's assets were at the time of the marriage because Malvern's personal bank and brokerage account records from this time period are now missing. As discussed below, these are the records that the jury determined were spoliated by Janet Snyder. Even without these records, however, it is clear that Malvern brought substantial independent assets to the marriage. Here is what is not disputed:

C His business. Malvern built a successful parcel delivery company, Red Arrow, which he sold in 1969, receiving \$216,000 (net) in cash (T. 964, 2680; DX46C at Tab 1).

2

- *C* His boats. After his semi-retirement to Florida, Malvern bought a series of boats (T. 2681-82). The boat he was living on at the time he met Frances was an 40-foot DeFever trawler worth \$80-100,000 in 1971 dollars (T. 805, 1491).
- *C* Family wealth. Malvern's mother left an estate of \$152,967.86 upon her death in 1986 (R. 2484). Malvern received between \$131,000 to \$148,000 of that estate, depending upon whose version of the evidence is credited (T. 917, 1629).
- C Brokerage business. After selling Red Arrow, Malvern became a stockbroker. Because of the absence of brokerage or bank records from this time

² Defendant's Exhibits ("DX") are in the record at R. 4292-4543.

period (T. 2254), no one knows the full extent of Malvern's investments at the time of the marriage.

- C Frugal lifestyle. The evidence suggests that Malvern was not spending his wealth. Malvern lived a frugal lifestyle as he sailed between the Bahamas and Florida (Br. 2, T. 789).
- C Frances' generosity. Frances very generously gave Malvern a \$150,000 cash gift upon their wedding (T. 454, 2427). Because of the missing records, it is impossible to document other instances of Frances' generosity.
- C Evidence of Wealth. Apparently, Malvern's nest egg was substantial enough to permit him to contribute one-half (or approximately \$208,000) to the construction of the couple's summer home in Elk River, North Carolina (R. 4557-58; T. 923). There is no evidence that Frances was surprised that Malvern was comfortably able to participate in such a major expenditure.

3

C Investments. All of Malvern's investment or bank account records from the 1970's and early 1980's are missing. Although we know Malvern was an active investor, it is impossible to determine what additional assets Malvern may have had when he married Frances. Moreover, Frances and Malvern's favored investment

There is also evidence that Malvern contributed one-half (or approximately \$100,000) to the purchase of a North Carolina condominium in 1979. Although the deed shows that Malvern and Frances held joint title (R. 4552-56), Snyder claims without any corroborating evidence that Malvern contributed nothing to the condominium purchase. Her claim contravenes the couple's prenuptial agreement which provides that property may not be designated as jointly owned unless Malvern and Frances contributed equally to its purchase (R. 2084-92).

vehicle was tax-free municipal bonds, which leave little or no paper trail (T. 751, 905-06, 955-57, 1318-19, 1737-40, 1752-55, 1759).

As discussed in more detail below, Malvern's financial status is extremely important because of the liability and damage theories proposed by Snyder's experts. Put simply, Snyder contends that Malvern ended the marriage with "too much" in his account (R. 925-28). Whether Malvern in fact had "too much" is largely dependent upon Snyder's assumption that Malvern came to the marriage with nothing. More on the expert controversy below.

Malvern and Frances' Financial Relationship

What little we know about Malvern and Frances' financial relationship is far outweighed by what we do not know.

- ⁴ Snyder's claim was not brought until after Malvern was dead and Frances incompetent (R. 1, 57). Here is what is indisputable:
- *C* Duration. The marriage between Malvern and Frances lasted nearly 20 years until Malvern's death in 1995 (T. 803).
- C Lifestyle. Malvern and Frances continued Frances' comfortable lifestyle (T. 2692-96). There is no evidence of extravagant purchases for Malvern's sole

The parties' description of Malvern and Frances' personal relationship could hardly be more different. The Estate submitted evidence from the couple's friends that Frances and Malvern were very much in love. Malvern is described by these friends of the couple as a true southern gentleman who was a devoted and caring husband until the end (T. 1645-46, 1670-71, 1697-98, 1722, 1945, 1951-52, 1954, 2687). In Snyder's view Malvern was cold and domineering, so obsessed with Frances' money that he skimped on her medical care. According to Snyder, Malvern isolated Frances from her friends and family and then used his increasing control over the couple's finances to steal Frances' money (R. 310).

benefit.

- *C* Trust and confidence. Frances and Malvern both had enough trust and confidence in each other to exchange durable powers of attorney (R. 2680-83). Malvern was named the co-trustee of the trust established by Frances' will and Frances was named successor trustee of Malvern's living trust and was to be personal representative of Malvern's estate (until a seizure rendered her incompetent in July, 1995) (R. 2642, 2684; T. 2003, 2010).
- C Frances' knowledge about family finances. Frances and Malvern often met together with their legal and financial advisors and during these meetings their individual assets were discussed. None of the couple's financial advisors testified that they saw any effort by Malvern to hide information from Frances.

C Nature of their investments. The parties invested almost entirely in tax-free municipal bonds. During the 70's and 80's many of these bonds were bearer bonds kept by Malvern and Frances in their safe at home. The purchase and sale of these bearer bonds leaves little paper trail except when the bonds are deposited into or withdrawn from a brokerage account or when the proceeds are deposited in a bank account (T. 751, 905-06, 1737-40, 1752-55, 1759).

Frances' health began to decline first. She suffered a broken hip in 1989 from

⁵ For example, during one meeting between Frances, Malvern and Sarasota estate planning attorney Norman Quale in 1987, there was open discussion that Frances' estate was valued between three-and-one-half to five million dollars while Malvern's estate was worth one million dollars (R. 2533-39, 2598). There is no evidence that Frances was shocked or surprised by the amount of Malvern's wealth at this time.

which she never fully recovered (T. 1005-06). She broke her other hip in 1994 (R. 2623-24). While recovering from her second broken hip, she suffered a series of debilitating strokes and a seizure in July, 1995 which rendered her incompetent (T. 362-63, 538, 1039, 1048).

During this difficult time, Malvern had been diagnosed with cancer (T. 2705; R. 2623-24). Physically unable to take care of her, Malvern consulted with Frances' family and physician and made the decision in early 1995 to move her to a nursing home near her children in Knoxville (T. 1010-11, 2711). Frances continues to reside in the nursing home to this day.

In October, 1995, Malvern entered the hospital with what proved to be his final illness (T. 437). Malvern's closest relatives, his nieces and nephews, were called to the hospital. Among them was his nephew William Bell, whom Malvern had designated to be his personal representative and successor trustee after Frances' seizure in July, 1995 (R. 2136, 2695). Asked by his uncle to help keep his affairs in order, Bill Bell went to Malvern and Frances' home in Osprey on October 24, 1995 to obtain and review financial records (R. 438-40). It was there that Bill Bell first met Janet Snyder. The meeting did not go well.

Spoliated Evidence

Because of Frances' move to a nursing home eight months earlier, Malvern was in sole possession of the couple's homes at the time of Bill Bell's visit.

⁶ Malvern had a study in the Osprey home where he meticulously organized and kept his and Frances' important papers (T. 427-28, 768, 2701, 2705). Included among these records were drawers full of cancelled checks and bank statements (T. 427). When Bill Bell arrived at Frances and Malvern's home, Janet Snyder and her husband Bill Snyder had already been there for three days (T. 440). Malvern and Frances' records were now in disarray. Piles of documents covered the dining room table. Boxes of documents were out, and drawers full of documents were open. Documents and personal possessions were being readied by the Snyders for shipment back to Knoxville (T. 427-29, 445, 2701, 2716, 2721-22).

Bell immediately became concerned. He first suggested to Snyder that neither party should be rummaging through these documents and personal possessions while Malvern was still alive (T. 365-66, 444-46). He suggested that a third party (for example, Malvern and Frances' mutual law firm) be retained to take possession of the documents and sort out the couple's documents and personal possessions in an orderly manner. Janet Snyder rejected Bell's suggestion. Bill Bell later reiterated this suggestion, which Snyder again rejected (T. 444-47, 1713, 2519, 2718-19).

Bell was worried about the integrity of the documents (T. 1653). It was clear

⁶ As Snyder conceded in the Second District, the facts relating to the missing documents must be viewed in a light most favorable to the Estate in light of the jury's favorable verdicts on the Estate's spoliation of evidence and conversion of personal property claims.

from his conversations with Snyder that she had already attempted to open Malvern's computer records (T. 442). She was already familiar with the terms of Malvern's will and reviewing documents concerning Malvern's net worth (T. 440-41).

⁷ Certain comments Snyder made also caused Bell to be concerned that information on Malvern's computer was being changed.

8

Beyond Bell's concern that Snyder was claiming property and reviewing private documents even before Malvern died, Bell worried that Snyder was making mistakes in the division of the couple's personal property. He observed that Snyder had already piled certain personal possessions to be moved back to Knoxville. Within those piles were Bell family heirlooms including property that belonged to Bell's grandmother (T. 444-49, 2717-19). Six suitcases were packed and several boxes appeared ready to be shipped back to Knoxville by Snyder over Bell's objection (T. 2721-22).

Bell returned to his sisters visibly upset after his confrontation with Snyder (T. 1652). Bell and his sisters were seriously concerned about the integrity of Malvern's financial records (T. 457-58, 1653, 1705-08). By this time, the Bells had learned that Snyder had been involved in litigation with her father's second wife, Lola Wynn, over the division of his estate and they were concerned about whether the same fate awaited them (T. 1713). A few days later, the sisters' fears were confirmed when

⁷ Thus, Snyder was aware that she was neither a personal representative nor beneficiary and therefore had no rights to his property or records.

⁸ Snyder admitted to Bill Bell that when she was using the computer, the computer prompted her with messages asking whether she wanted to save her changes (T. 2716-17).

during a visit to Malvern's home, they saw that a folder of Malvern's private papers was gone, along with the drawer full of cancelled checks and other items (T. 1713, 1716).

On October 26, 1995, Malvern Bell was declared incompetent, and his nephew Bill became his successor trustee (T. 459). A few days later, on November 3, Malvern passed away and Bill Bell soon became his personal representative. After additional conversations with his sisters about the fact that documents were already missing, Bill and his sisters decided to try to secure the information in Malvern's computer. The sisters visited his home once more and took with them the computer tower containing the hard drive (T. 459, 1713-17). The hard drive was later duplicated and produced to all of the parties to the litigation.

9

Although hard drive was secured, much of Malvern's financial information was kept on a series of computer diskettes. Snyder took sole possession of those diskettes. Her brother Richard Wynn spent months analyzing the disks before they were turned over to the Estate. There is no way of knowing whether information on those disks was altered or disks were destroyed or concealed (T. 817-20, 825-27, 833-34).

Snyder sued almost immediately after Malvern's death (T. 425, 2733; R. 1, 57). From that point forward, Snyder denied Bell and his family access to Malvern and

⁹ Bill Bell's intention was to copy information relating solely to Malvern Bell on disks, and place all of the information in the hands of a responsible third party. However, after a computer technician transferred one file, Bell realized that the project was larger and more complicated than anticipated and he determined to leave the hard drive intact. The one file that the technician transferred to disk has been distributed to both parties (T. 384-85, 388, 460-65).

Frances' Florida and North Carolina homes (T. 2727-28).

When Bill Bell as personal representative finally was granted access (over Snyder's objections) to Frances and Malvern's homes by court order, much turned out to be missing (T. 2728-29, 2758-61). The file containing Malvern's personal papers never reappeared. The drawer full of cancelled checks is still missing. Virtually all financial records from the early part of Malvern and Frances' marriage were missing. Neither have Malvern's personal papers from before the marriage been located (T. 426-27, 451, 878, 903, 1307, 1318-19, 2254). Bell has no idea what happened to boxes of documents that the Snyders shipped to Knoxville. Bell testified that he spent between \$50,000 and \$100,000 trying to reconstruct these missing records (R. 2752-53).

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