### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM G. BELL, ET AL.,	
Petitioner,	
v.	Case No. 1999-92
JANET SNYDER,	
Respondent.	

Appeal from the District Court of Appeal Second District of Florida Case Nos. 98-00191 and 98-00853

#### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF**

A. Lamar Matthews, Jr.
FB# 051390
Arthur S. Hardy
FB#721492
MATTHEWS, HUTTON & EASTMOORE
1777 Main Street, Suite 500
Post Office Box 49377
Sarasota, Florida 34230
(941) 366-8888
Fax: (941)954-7777

Counsel for Respondent

## I.

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

#### VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision below, permitting statutory treble damages against an estate, does not conflict with <u>Lohr v. Byrd</u>, 522 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1988), or any other decision.

Jurisdiction was improvidently granted and should be dismissed.

In <u>Lohr</u>, this Court made its own policy determination that common law punitive damages could not be awarded against an estate. With respect to statutory treble damages for civil theft, it is the Florida Legislature that has the authority to establish state policy. It has done so; the Legislature has provided that all individuals proving civil theft by clear and convincing evidence are entitled to treble damages.

No exception is made for estates. The doctrine of separation of powers prohibits the Court from reversing this legislatively enacted policy and replacing it with the Court's own policy choice.

No other issue forms the jurisdictional basis in this Court nor was any other issue commented on by the Second District. The Court, therefore, should not consider the other issues raised. If it does, it should affirm the Second District's ruling that petitioner failed to prove his spoliation claim. The Court should also reject petitioner's attempt to sanction Frances Bell for the alleged acts of another and prolong this case beyond the five years (by the time of oral argument) it has already been pending. The decision of the Second District should be affirmed.

#### VII. ARGUMENT

A. No Conflict Exists Between The Decision Below and Any Decision of This Court. Jurisdiction Should Be Dismissed.

Before the decision below, no court in Florida had considered the issue of whether treble damages under Section 772.11, Florida Statutes (1995), could be awarded against an estate. Without a prior Florida decision on point, there can be no conflict of decisions. Satz v. Perlmutter, 362 So. 2d 160, 164 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1978)(Anstead, J., concurring specially)("Everyone agrees that this is a case of first impression in the appellate courts of Florida. Hence, there is no case in conflict with this decision that would give rise to conflict certiorari jurisdiction in the Supreme Court."), aff'd, 379 So. 2d 359 (Fla. 1980). Accordingly, jurisdiction should be dismissed.

Lohr v. Byrd, 522 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1988), presents no conflict. Lohr concerned whether common law punitive damages could be awarded against an estate. Lohr did not address the application of statutory damages under Florida's civil theft law. One case concerning judicially-created punitive damages and another case concerning legislatively-created remedies for civil theft are jurisdictionally dissimilar.

This Court denies conflict review even when seemingly similar concepts conflict where one issue is a product of common law and the other is a product of statute. In re M.P., 472 So. 2d 732 (Fla. 1985)("Because we find the [statutory] issue

in this case clearly distinguishable from the [common law] issues decided in <u>In the Interest of D. B.</u>, we deny review."). The Second District below distinguished <u>Lohr</u> based upon the distinctions between common law and statutory law:

The trial court's position fails upon a critical examination of the differences between judicially-created punitive damages and legislatively-created treble damages.

Snyder, 746 So. 2d at 1098.

It does not help petitioner's argument for conflict jurisdiction that the lower court held section 772.11 to be "remedial." That holding is in accord with all Florida courts who have had occasion to address the issue. See Snyder, 746 So. 2d at 1098 (collecting cases). Even the statute itself states that the various sections of the law "shall be construed in light of their purposes to achieve their remedial goals." \$812.037, Fla. Stat. (1995)(emphasis added). Moreover, "remedial" statutes can be "punitive." The terms are not mutually exclusive. The Second District never said that treble damages were not punitive. Rather, the court simply classified the entire civil theft law as remedial.

The cases cited by petitioner in support of conflict jurisdiction are inapposite; none even address the remedial issue. For example, McArthur Dairy, Inc. v. Original Kielbs, Inc., 481 So. 2d 535 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1 986), was decided under an older version of the civil theft law–a version which did not exclude on its face (as does the present

version) the award of <u>both</u> punitive and treble damages. The <u>McArthur</u> court held, even under the prior version, that both types of damages could not be recovered in the same case. Significantly, the court never addressed whether treble damages under the statute were remedial. The remaining two cases cited by petitioner, <u>Vining v. Martyn</u>, 660 So. 2d 1081 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1995), and <u>United Pacific Insurance Co. v. Berryhill</u>, 620 So. 2d 1077 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1993), are the same. Both hold that treble damages are "in the nature of" punitive damages. The cases do not hold that the civil theft law is not remedial.

Petitioner's resort to legislative history in his jurisdictional brief is beyond the four corners of the district court's opinion and cannot be considered for jurisdictional purposes. Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829 (Fla. 1986)(conflict of decisions must arise from "four corners of the majority decision"); Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services v. National Adoption Counseling Service, Inc., 498 So. 2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986)(same). Nevertheless, contrary to petitioner's statement, "the Act" was never "amended to delete any reference to punitive damages." In fact, section 772.11 continues to "reference" punitive damages: "In no event shall punitive damages be awarded under this section." In making this unmistakable "reference," the Legislature acknowledged that punitive damages under the common law and treble damages under section 772.11 were simply not the same. The lower court noted this fact in reaching

its holding.

The civil theft statute expressly provides that "[i]n no event shall punitive damages be awarded under this section. " §772.11, Fla. Stat. (1995). However, the statute also provides for <u>and mandates</u> an award of treble damages upon a finding of liability. If treble damages are no more than a "form of punitive damages," as the trial court concluded, the statute would contain an inherent inconsistency.

<u>Snyder</u>, 746 So. 2d at 1098-99 (emphasis added). Because no conflict exists, the Court should decline to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction and dismiss this case.

# B. The Second District Court of Appeal Correctly Ruled That Frances Bell's Civil Theft Damages Award Should Be Trebled.

Frances Bell proved by clear and convincing evidence that Malvern Bell stole \$122,634.59 from her while she was debilitated by a stroke and residing in an assisted care living facility. Notwithstanding the express language requiring the trebling of civil theft damage awards contained in Section 772.11, Florida Statutes, the trial court refused to comply with that statute concluding, "treble damage awards are a form of punitive damages" and are therefore not recoverable against a "deceased tortfeasor as a matter of law." R. 5061-65. Recognizing the distinction between "judicially-created punitive damages and legislatively-created treble damages," the Second District reversed ordering the trial court to comply with Section 772.11 by trebling Frances' civil theft award. This Court should affirm.

The Florida civil theft statute, contained in Section 772.11, Fla. Stat. (1995)<sup>5</sup>, provides as follows:

Any person who proves by clear and convincing evidence that he has been injured in any fashion by reason of any violation of the provisions of §§ 812.012-812.037 <u>has a cause of action for threefold the actual damages sustained</u> ...

\*\*\*

In no event shall <u>punitive damages</u> be awarded under this section. (emphasis added).

The law is clear that an award of treble damages under the Florida civil theft statute is mandatory upon a determination of liability. See Aagaard-Juergensen, Inc. v. Lettelier, 579 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991)(applying section 812.035(7)). Moreover, an award of treble damages is nothing more than a ministerial act to be conducted by the trial court upon a finding by the trier of fact of liability for civil theft. Senfeld v. Bank of Nova Scotia Trust Co. Ltd., 450 So. 2d 1157, 1166 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1984). The statute expressly prohibits the awarding of punitive damages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Prior to 1986 the civil theft remedy was contained in section 812.035(7). Effective October 1, 1986, section 812.035 was amended to limit treble damages to the state or its agencies. However, simultaneously therewith section 772.11, Fla. Stat. was amended to provide individuals with a civil theft remedy, including treble damages. Inasmuch as the pertinent provisions of the pre-1986 version of section 812.035(7) and the post-1986 version of section 772.11 are nearly identical, the case law interpreting and applying section 812.035(7) (1985) should apply to section 772.11 (1995).

Notwithstanding the mandatory requirement of the civil theft statute, the trial court ruled that, based on public policy reasons previously applied by this Court to punitive damage claims in <u>Lohr v. Byrd</u>, 522 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1988), statutory treble damages cannot, as a matter of law, be recovered against a decedent's estate. R. 5061-65. The Court of Appeal properly reversed on this issue.

In <u>Lohr</u>, the Court was presented with the following question certified to be of great public importance: "MAY PUNITIVE DAMAGES BE AWARDED AGAINST A DECEASED TORTFEASOR'S ESTATE?" <u>Lohr</u>, 522 So.2d at 845. In answering this question in the negative, the Court analyzed the public policy considerations and ramifications of allowing such damages, which are solely meant to punish, against the "innocent heirs or creditors of a decedent's estate." <u>Id.</u> at 847. Specifically, the Court stated that because the basic purpose of punitive damages is punishment and not compensation to the injured party, the imposition of these damages at the expense of innocent heirs and creditors "ignores our basic philosophy of justice." <u>Id</u>. As such, the court made a public policy decision that punitive damages would not be allowed against a deceased tortfeasor in Florida.

In this case, the trial court adopted the reasoning employed in <u>Lohr</u> and expanded that holding to include statutory treble damages. The basis for this ruling is found, primarily, in the trial court's conclusion that treble damages are a "form of

punitive damages." According to the trial court, if treble damages are no more than a form of punitive damages and punitive damages may not be awarded against a deceased tortfeasor's estate, then treble damages are also not recoverable.

As the Second District properly concluded, the trial court's position fails to recognize the critical distinction between judicially-created punitive damages and legislatively-created treble damages. First, a conclusion that the treble damages recoverable under Section 772.11 are a form of punitive damages flies in the face of the statute itself. The civil theft statute expressly provides that "[i]n no event shall punitive damages be awarded under this section." Sec. 772.11, Fla. Stat. (1995). However, the statute also provides for, and mandates the awarding of, treble damages upon a finding of liability. See Aagaard-Juergensen, Inc. v. Lettelier, 579 So.2d 404 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). Therefore, if treble damages are no more than a "form of punitive damages" as the trial court concluded, the statute would contain an inherent inconsistency. One portion of the statute would require the imposition of "punitive" damages" while another portion specifically forbids such damages. Clearly the Legislature did not intend such a result. While treble damages may be, as some courts have stated, "in the nature of punitive damages," they are not themselves punitive damages. Accordingly, Lohr does not apply.

Second, treble damages are a creature of statute while punitive damages exist

under Florida common law. This distinction negates the court's ability to circumvent the scope of the civil theft statute based on its own concept of public policy.

Consistent with the separation of powers doctrine, while courts "may determine public policy in the absence of legislative pronouncement, such a policy decision must yield to a valid, contrary legislative pronouncement." VanBibber v. Hartford Accident and Indemnity Insurance Co., 439 So. 2d 880, 883 (Fla. 1983)(emphasis added).

Therefore, while this Court in Lohr was permitted to rely on public policy considerations to preclude a remedy which is governed by Florida common law, fundamental constitutional principles forbid the judicial branch from dismissing statutorily created rights and remedies.

This Court has long recognized the limitation upon judicial policy-making power imposed by the doctrine of separation of powers.

Where a statute does not violate the federal or state Constitution, the legislative will is supreme, and its policy is not subject to judicial review. The courts have no veto power, and do not assume to regulate state policy; but they recognize and enforce the policy of the law as expressed in valid enactments, and decline to enforce statutes only when to do so would violate organic law.

<u>City of Jacksonville v. Bowden</u>, 67 Fla. 181, 188, 64 So. 769, 772 (1914)(emphasis added). This deference to legislatively enacted statutes is mandated even in the face of a contrary judicially created policy.

Our supreme court has also directed that when a court

construes a statutory scheme, it may not question the "substantial legislative policy reasons" underlying the statute nor exercise any "prerogative to modify or shade" the "clearly expressed legislative intent" of the statutory enactment "in order to uphold a *policy* favored by the court.

\*\*\*\*

Accordingly, so long as a statutory enactment passes constitutional scrutiny, the judicial branch, in construing the enactment, has no prerogative to alter or limit the legislative policy clearly expressed in the enactment in order to further a different policy or view preferred by the courts, including one favored by the Florida Supreme Court.

Delgado v. J.W. Courtesy Pontiac GMC-Truck, 693 So. 2d 602, 609 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997) quoting Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984)(emphasis in original).

In this case, it is imperative for the Court to recognize the distinction between the common law right to punitive damages and the legislatively-created statutory right to treble damages. With respect to the former, the judiciary establishes the scope of entitlement; with respect to the latter, that authority resides in the Legislature. As the court stated in <u>Delgado</u>, the separation of powers doctrine prohibits the judiciary from imposing its own policy view in opposition to that expressed by the Legislature. The trial court made this error; it wrongly substituted its policy judgment for the Legislature's. The Second District corrected the error and reversed. This Court should affirm that ruling.

Although never addressing the dispositive issue of separation of powers directly

in his initial brief, Bill Bell attempts to skirt the issue by asserting that the Legislature did not intend to award treble damages against estates. This novel argument, raised substantively for the first time here, has no support in the language of the statute and should be rejected.

Section 772.11, Florida Statutes, provides that <u>any person</u> who proves a civil theft by clear and convincing evidence is entitled to treble damages. Contrary to Bill Bell's assertion, the Legislature did not provide this remedy to any person except one who is suing an estate. No such limitation is found in Chapter 772. Significantly, Chapter 772 shows that the Legislature considered exemptions in drafting the civil theft statute and, in fact, created one: Section 772.19 exempts the state, its agencies, institutions, subdivisions, municipalities from damages under that chapter. Thus, the Legislature knew how to create the exemption Bill Bell seeks; the Legislature simply chose not to enact it.

Raising a footnote in his brief to the Second District to his primary argument here, Bill Bell argues that because Section 772.11 allows a party to "recover the damages allowed under this section" against a tortfeasor's parents or guardians while not explicitly allowing such recovery against an estate, no recovery can be had against an estate for treble damages. The flaws in this argument are many. First, the passage cited by Bill Bell and quoted above refers to all damages, not simply treble damages.

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